FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
5/6/2021 2:47 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/6/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99744-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 36213-2-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JEREMIAH SMITH, a.k.a. GLENN A. AKERS, Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Andrea Burkhart, WSBA #38519 Two Arrows, PLLC 8220 W. Gage Blvd. #789 Kennewick, WA 99336 Tel: (509) 572-2409 Email: Andrea@2arrows.net Attorney for Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jeremiah Smith requests that this Court accept review of the decision designated in Part II.

II. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Smith seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision filed on February 16, 2021, concluding that the unconstitutionality of sentencing a youthful offender to life without the possibility of parole under the Persistent Offender Accountability Act ("POAA"), RCW 9.94A.570, predicated upon a strike conviction in adult court for conduct committed as a juvenile is not manifest. A copy of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is attached hereto as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether Smith's life without parole sentence is categorically or individually disproportionate under article I, section 14.

- 2. Whether Smith's life without parole sentence is disproportionate because it is predicated on a less culpable juvenile strike offense.
- 3. Whether Smith's life without parole sentence is disproportionate when the POAA withholds individualized consideration from a 25-year-old offender and instead requires the same severe mandatory penalty as fully-formed adult recidivists.
- 4. Whether Smith's life without parole sentence is disproportionate when the overwhelming majority of other states would not permit a life without parole sentence for Smith's crime and the national trend is moving away from predicating the harshest punishments on youthful mistakes.
- Whether Smith's life without parole sentence is unconstitutional when POAA sentences are imposed in a racially biased manner.

6. Whether this Court should grant review when the Court of Appeals concluded any constitutional error in predicating a sentence on a juvenile strike was not manifest but invited this Court to directly address this important constitutional issue.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Twenty-nine years old at the time of sentencing, Jeremiah

Smith is the youngest person to be sentenced to life without the possibility of parole under the POAA in the last four years. He is one of 18 African American men to receive a POAA life sentence in that same time frame, constituting 38% of all 47 POAA life sentences handed down.²

¹ See Caseload Forecast Council, Statistical Summary of Adult Felony Sentencing, Fiscal Years 2017-2020, available online at https://www.cfc.wa.gov/CriminalJustice_ADU_SEN.htm (last visited Feb. 22, 2021) and attached in pertinent part at Appendix B. Detailed offender information is not available in the statistical reports before 2017.

² Id. Black Americans make up about 4.4% of Washington's total population. See U.S. Census Bureau, QuickFacts: Washington, available online at http://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/WA/RHI225219, last visited March 3, 2021. By contrast, African Americans received 13 and 12.6% of all felony sentences, as well as 13% and 20% of all first degree murder sentences, in 2018 and 2019 respectively. Caseload Forecast Council, Adult General Disproportionality Report (Dec. 2018 and Dec. 2019) at pp. 9, 16 (attached in pertinent part as Appendices C and D).

Smith received his life sentence as the result of convictions for first degree murder, first degree assault, and first degree burglary. CP 503-07. His life sentence was predicated upon his prior conviction in adult court for first degree robbery, which he committed at age 17, as well as subsequent most serious offenses committed at age 18. CP 506. He was 25 years old at the time of the crimes for which he was convicted. CP 1.

At sentencing, Smith argued for mitigation based upon his age and the circumstances of his youth and reserved arguments on the constitutionality of his sentence for appeal. RP 1055-57. The trial court concluded that it had no discretion to deviate from a mandatory life without parole sentence. VI RP (Kerbs) 1052-53, 1060 ("[T]here's only one thing the Court can do at sentencing."), 1060-61 ("[Y]ou do have sufficient convictions in your history to make you a persistent offender. That means . . . the Court is required to impose a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of any type of parole.").

On appeal, Smith contended that his sentence violated the Eighth Amendment and article I, section 14 of the Washington

4

Constitution, under both the categorical and individual tests, because it required a life without parole sentence as the result of conduct committed while a juvenile and because he was precluded under the POAA from receiving the individualized consideration provided for in *O'Dell*. The Court of Appeals concluded that any error was not manifest in the absence of guidance from this Court on the question whether it is unconstitutionally cruel to consider strike offenses committed as a juvenile and requested that the Court "directly address this important constitutional issue." *Opinion*, at 21-22. It denied Smith's motion for reconsideration on April 6, 2021.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) because the case implicates significant constitutional questions concerning the constitutionality of life without parole sentences under the Persistent Offender Accountability Act (POAA). Smith contends that his POAA sentence is unconstitutionally and disproportionately cruel because (1) it is predicated upon an adult conviction for a crime committed as a minor, which is categorically less blameworthy than comparable offenses committed by fully

formed adults; (2) it precludes him from receiving individualized consideration at sentencing even though he was only 25 years old when he committed the current crime; and (3) the POAA is enforced in a racially disparate and disproportionately harsh manner, rendering Smith's sentence systemically unfair.

Under both the categorical analysis adopted by this Court in *State v. Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d 67, 428 P.3d 343 (2018) and the individual proportionality test described in *State v. Fain*, 94 Wn.2d 387, 617 P.2d 720 (1980), Smith's sentence falls short of the standards established by the Eighth Amendment and article 1, section 14 and therefore presents significant questions of constitutional magnitude. Furthermore, Smith's challenge reflects widespread public concerns about the effects of mass incarceration, particularly upon impoverished and minority communities. Consequently, this Court's examination of the constitutional limits of the POAA would be of significant public interest.

A. Because the juvenile strike is categorically less blameworthy than adult criminal behavior, it is disproportionate to predicate the most severe sanction Washington allows on juvenile conduct.

Recidivist sentencing schemes such as the POAA are limited by considerations of proportionality, considering the nature of the offense, the legislative purpose behind the statute, the punishments meted out in other jurisdictions for the same crime, and punishments meted out in Washington for other crimes. *State v. Witherspoon*, 180 Wn.2d 875, 887, 329 P.3d 888 (2014) (*citing Fain*, 94 Wn.2d at 397). Sentences must be proportionate to both the offense and the offender. *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 469, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012). Accordingly, this Court has consistently recognized that what is proportionate for a fully-formed adult offender may not be proportionate for a child or a young adult due to the inherent characteristics of youth.

For example, in *Bassett*, this Court held that article I, section 14 categorically prohibited life without parole sentences for juveniles convicted of aggravated murder. 192 Wn.2d at 91. The

Bassett Court relied upon the now well-recognized scientific literature establishing that humans in development experience transient rashness, proclivity for risk, inability to assess consequences, undeveloped sense of responsibility, susceptibility to peer pressure and other outside pressure, and unfixed character. 192 Wn.2d at 87 (citing Miller, 567 U.S. at 472; Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 68, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010); Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 569, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005)). For these same reasons, in State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 21, 391 P.3d 409 (2017), and State v. Gilbert, 193 Wn.2d 169, 175, 438 P.3d 133 (2019), this Court has concluded that sentencing court must always have discretion to consider the mitigating factors of youthfulness and, when appropriate, impose exceptional sentences upon juvenile offenders "regardless of any sentencing provision to the contrary." These cases recognize as a constitutionally-grounded principle that juvenile misconduct carries less blameworthiness than the same behavior committed by fullyformed adults. See, e.g., Roper, 543 U.S. at 570 (describing reasons

that juveniles have greater potential for reform and redemption as they mature).

The categorically diminished culpability of youthfulness undermines the rationale for predicating a mandatory life without parole sentence upon juvenile criminality to the same extent as repeated adult criminality. Mandatory life sentences for recidivists are justified "not merely on that person's most recent offense but also on the propensities he has demonstrated over a period of time during which he has been convicted of and sentenced for other crimes." Rummel v. Estelle, 445 U.S. 263, 284-85, 100 S. Ct. 1133, 63 L.Ed.2d 382 (1980). Consequently, courts evaluating recidivist sentences consistently consider the proportionality of the sentence to not only the current crime, but to the past qualifying crimes as well. See, e.g., Fain, 94 Wn.2d at 402 ("[W]e believe Fain's sentence to be entirely disproportionate to the seriousness of his crimes."); State v. Manussier, 129 Wn.2d 652, 677, 921 P.2d 473 (1996) ("Each of the offenses underlying his conviction as a "persistent offender" is robbery."); Witherspoon, 180 Wn.2d at 889, 890 ("Witherspoon's earlier offenses were for first degree burglary and residential

burglary with a firearm . . . Witherspoon was an adult when he committed all three of his strike offenses."); *Rummel*, 445 U.S. at 284 (punishment is "based not merely on that person's most recent offense but also on the propensities he has demonstrated over a period of time."). But under the developmental jurisprudence discussed in *Bassett*, juvenile crimes are a poor measure of propensities for any particular defendant. Consequently, the inference of incorrigibility demonstrated over time cannot be strongly drawn on the basis of juvenile mistakes.

This Court should grant review to apply its article I, section 14 jurisprudence of youthfulness to a mandatory life without parole sentence premised upon a crime committed as a juvenile. Whether the categorical or individualized proportionality tests preclude imposing a mandatory life without parole sentence due to predicate juvenile strikes is a significant question of constitutional law under the Eighth Amendment and article I, section 14. Accordingly, review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

B. The POAA falls short of article I, section 14 standards applicable to offenders who are over 18 but still developing, by denying them individualized consideration of mitigating circumstances.

This Court's jurisprudence of youthfulness further acknowledges that the constitutionally-significant developmental characteristics recognized in *Graham*, *Roper*, *Miller*, and their progeny do not automatically terminate on a person's 18th birthday. In *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 691-92, 358 P.3d 359 (2015), and more recently in *In re Monschke*, __ Wn.2d __, 482 P.2d 276, 285 (2021),³ this Court relied upon the neuroscientific literature to recognize that full maturity often does not solidify until well into a person's 20s. Consequently, youthfulness implicates sentencing practices applicable not only to individuals who are legally juveniles at the time of their offenses, but also those who are still youthful and developing. *See O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d at 695 ("[W]e know know that age may well mitigate a defendant's culpability, even if that defendant is over the age of 18."); *Monschke*, 482 P.3d at 286

³ Monschke was decided after Mr. Smith's case was briefed and argued.

("[W]e deem these objective scientific differences between 18- to 20-year-olds [covering the ages of the two petitioners in this case] on the one hand, and persons with fully developed brains on the other hand, to be constitutionally significant under article I, section 14.").

Contrary to *O'Dell* and *Monschke*, the POAA as written and as applied by the trial court in this case eliminates any discretion on the part of the sentencing judge to consider the youthfulness of the defendant, at the time of either the current or the prior strike offenses, in evaluating the defendant's moral culpability and imposing a proportionate sentence. Life without parole is now the harshest penalty available under Washington law. *See generally State v. Gregory*, 195 Wn.2d 1, 427 P.3d 621 (2018) (abolishing the death penalty). Yet, while this Court's article I, section 14 jurisprudence plainly acknowledges the significance of developmental immaturity, the POAA mandates the harshest and most permanent penalty without individualized regard for the characteristics of youth that may ameliorate a 25-year-old's culpability.

Whether a mandatory life without parole sentence can be imposed on a 25-year-old offender presents a significant question of constitutional law in light of the principles articulated in *O'Dell* and *Monschke*. Review is appropriate and should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

C. As applied, Washington's POAA scheme is among the most punitive in the nation and is out of alignment with the emerging nationwide trend against imposing lengthy sentences based on juvenile misconduct.

Review is also appropriate to consider the proportionality of mandatory life without parole sentences under Washington's POAA relative to the practices of other states. In considering whether article I, section 14 principles categorically bar a class of punishments, the court both considers whether there is an emerging national consensus and also exercises its independent judgment on the question. Similarly, the punishments meted out in other jurisdictions is one of the four factors considered in an "as-applied" proportionality challenge. *Fain*, 94 Wn.2d at 397.

Table 1, appended hereto as Appendix F, demonstrates the harshness of Washington's POAA, as well as Smith's mandatory life without parole sentence generally, in comparison to other states. A life without parole sentence would only be imposed in 17 states besides Washington; in 32 others, Smith would receive a fixed sentence or an opportunity for release considering his crime and his history. Appendix F. However, in only seven of those states – Georgia, Massachusetts, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina, Wisconsin, and Wyoming – would a life without parole sentence result from the state's recidivist sentencing scheme; in the remaining 10 states, mandatory life without parole is the penalty for a felony murder conviction. Id. Consequently, Washington's POAA is one of the eight harshest recidivist sentencing schemes in the country and results in a vastly disproportionate outcome relative to other states.

Furthermore, an increasing number of states preclude the use of crimes committed before adulthood as strikes. Kentucky, New Mexico, North Dakota, New Jersey, and Wyoming all expressly require crimes to be committed on or before the offender's 18th

birthday to trigger recidivist sentences. *Id.* at p. 10. Recently, Illinois amended its recidivist law to provide that to count as a strike offense, the crimes must have been committed at age 21 or older; the revision will become effective on July 1 of this year. *Id.* This year, California has also introduced a bill that would remove juvenile adjudications from consideration as strikes. *See* Cal. A.B. No. 1127 (introduced Feb. 18, 2021).⁴

For purposes of comparative proportionality, the absolute number of states adopting a particular practice is less important than the direction of the trend. *Moretti*, 193 Wn.2d at 821. The national consensus cuts against mandatory life without parole sentencing for recidivist punishments generally, and the trend is moving away from predicating recidivist punishments – and the harshest punishments generally – on juvenile conduct. Review should be granted to consider whether Washington's POAA is unconstitutionally

4

⁴ Available online at https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=20212 0220AB1127 (last visited May 5, 2021).

disproportionate in light of the sentencing practices that would apply to Mr. Smith's case in other jurisdictions.

D. As applied, Washington's POAA scheme is gravely disproportionate in its effect on racial minorities.

In *Gregory*, this Court took judicial notice of "implicit and overt racial bias against black defendants in this state." 192 Wn.2d at 22. Historically, only a small percentage of the disproportionality can be accounted for by differences in rates of arrest; by contrast, a large number of facially neutral policies have racially disparate effects throughout the criminal justice process, from stop and search to pretrial detention to sentencing.⁵

In at least the past two years, life without parole sentences under the POAA have fallen especially hard on black men.⁶

Because these sentences can be predicated on youthful convictions,

⁵ Task Force on Race and the Criminal Justice System, *Preliminary Report* on Race and Washington's Criminal Justice System (2011) at pp. 1-2, available online at

https://law.seattleu.edu/Documents/korematsu/race%20and%20criminal%20justice/preliminary%20report_report_march_1_2011_public_cover.pdf (last visited March 3, 2021)

⁶ See supra, n. 2.

they build upon and perpetuate disparities in detaining and incarcerating black youths; in Washington, black youths are more than five times more likely to be placed in an institution compared to white youths.⁷ In recent years, black men have received 38% of all POAA sentences despite comprising only 4-5% of Washington's population.⁸

As noted in the concurring opinion in *Moretti*, "[t]hose sentenced to life without a possibility of parole are treated as irredeemable and incapable of rehabilitation." 193 Wn.2d at 837 (Yu, J., concurring). That Washington's courts are condemning as irredeemable and withholding mercy from its black men to a greater degree than other criminal defendants is deeply troubling, particularly to the extent that these practices "reflect our values and beliefs about punishment and our criminal justice system." *Id.* at 840.

_

⁷ The Sentencing Project, Fact Sheet: Black Disparities in Youth Incarceration (2017) at p. 1, available online at https://www.sentencingproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Black-Disparities-in-Youth-Incarceration.pdf (last visited March 3, 2021) (attached as Appendix E).

⁸ See supra, n. 2.

Penalties imposed in an arbitrary and racially biased manner are unconstitutional under article I, section 14. *See Gregory*, 192 Wn.2d at 5. Here, that the burden of life without parole sentences falls disproportionately on black communities belies a lack of fundamental fairness and offends basic standards of decency. *See id.* at 24.

A statutory scheme that disproportionately and systematically robs black men of their hope is the height of cruelty and cannot be sanctioned by article I, section 14 or the Eighth Amendment. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) to consider whether the POAA, as applied, serves legitimate penological goals in light of the heavy burdens it imposes on black communities in Washington.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) and this Court should enter a ruling that Smith's life without parole sentence is unconstitutional

under the Eighth Amendment and article I, section 14 of the Washington constitution.