FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/7/2021 10:02 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99744-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

JEREMIAH SMITH AKA GLENN AKERS, APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF SPOKANE COUNTY

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL Prosecuting Attorney

Gretchen E. Verhoef Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

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

III. ARGUMENT

This Court has repeatedly upheld Washington's persistent offender law against both challenges under the Eighth Amendment and under article I, section 14. *State v. Moretti*, 193 Wn.2d 809, 446 P.3d 609 (2019); *State v. Witherspoon*, 180 Wn.2d 875, 329 P.3d 888 (2014); *State v. Thorne*, 129 Wn.2d 736, 921 P.2d 514 (1996); *State v. Rivers*, 129 Wn.2d 697, 921 P.2d 495 (1996); *State v. Manussier*, 129 Wn.2d 652, 677, 921 P.2d 473 (1996).

This case presents no new constitutional issues unaddressed by this Court's jurisprudence; therefore, this Court should decline review.

A. THE DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE A MANIFEST ERROR.

The constitutionality of the defendant's persistent offender sentence was not raised to the sentencing court; the defendant did not ask the sentencing court to consider his youthfulness at the time of his first strike offense, or at the time of the first-degree murder committed at age 25. In fact, the defense agreed that a life sentence was proper, only requesting to reserve any theoretical constitutional issues for appeal. RP 1055-57. This issue, raised for the first time on appeal, should only be reviewed if it is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a). This alleged constitutional error is not manifest, i.e., obvious on the record or plain and indisputable. *See State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99-100, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). The Court of Appeals declined review of the defendant's claims of error on this basis. *State v. Smith*, Slip Op. 36213-2 at 1, 20-22 (Feb. 16, 2021).

This Court recently rejected a similar constitutionality challenge to sentencing of adult offenders predicated on "youthful" first strikes, noting other jurisdictions have upheld persistent offender-type sentencing *even*

when a predicate offense is committed by a juvenile. Moretti, 193 Wn.2d at 822-23 (citing Wilson v. State, 2017 Ark. 217, 521 S.W.3d 123, 127 (2017); Vickers v. State, 117 A.3d 516, 520 (Del. 2015)); Com. v. Lawson, 90 A.3d 1, 7 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2014); Counts v. State, 338 P.3d 902 (Wyo. 2014); U.S. v. Hoffman, 710 F.3d 1228, 1233 (11th Cir. 2013); U.S. v. Scott, 610 F.3d 1009, 1018 (8th Cir. 2010); U.S. v. Mays, 466 F.3d 335, 340 (5th Cir. 2006)). This Court denied review of the published decision in State v. Teas, 10 Wn. App. 2d 111, 447 P.3d 606 (2019), review denied, 195 Wn.2d 1008 (2020), presenting the same issue. Given these numerous decisions upholding the use of an adult strike offense, committed as a juvenile, as a basis for a subsequent, adult sentence to life without parole, the defendant's claimed errors are not manifest.

B. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE REVIEW BECAUSE, AT THE TIME OF HIS THIRD STRIKE OFFENSE, SMITH WAS A FULLY DEVELOPED ADULT WHO HAD BEEN PROVIDED OPPORTUNITIES FOR REHABILITATION.

The social science undergirding *Miller, Houston-Sconiers, O'Dell*, and *Monschke*, ³ applicable to juvenile or youthful offenders, is unavailing

³ Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 183 L.Ed.2d 407 (2012); State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 391 P.3d 409 (2017); State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 683-84, 358 P.3d 359 (2015); Matter of Monschke, 197 Wn.2d 305, 482 P.3d 276 (2021).

to Smith. This Court should decline review under RAP 13.4 because it is well-settled that an adult offender may constitutionally be sentenced to life without parole. At age 25 and five months,⁴ the defendant committed first-degree murder, first-degree burglary, and first-degree assault. Despite a chance to retreat before executing Medina, Smith failed to take that opportunity. He has also failed to take advantage of rehabilitative efforts provided during his previous incarceration and supervision, and has failed to otherwise conform his behavior to the law as he has aged.

The science in this area has been synthesized by law professor Elizabeth S. Scott and psychologist Laurence Steinberg, whose work was cited extensively in *Roper* and by this Court.⁵ Per Scott and Steinberg, social scientists recognize that *juveniles* achieve the ability to use adult reasoning by mid-adolescence, but lack the ability to properly assess risks and engage in adult-style self-control.⁶ Research also suggests that *teens* are more responsive to peer pressure between childhood and early adolescence. "This

⁴ Smith was born on December 22, 1989, and killed Medina on May 26, 2015. CP 1.

⁵ See e.g., Monschke, 482 P.3d at 285; Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2005).

⁶ Elizabeth S. Scott & Laurence Steinberg, RETHINKING JUVENILE JUSTICE 34 (2008); Elizabeth S. Scott & Laurence Steinberg, BLAMING YOUTH, 81 Tex. L. Rev. 799, 812-13 (2003).

susceptibility peaks around age 14 and declines slowly *during the high school years*." BLAMING YOUTH at 813-14 (emphasis added). Generally, "[i]mpulsivity...increases between middle adolescence and early adulthood and declines soon thereafter." *Id.* at 815. Adolescents and adults differ in their ability to regulate their behavior or control their impulses. Risk-taking *peaks around age 16 or 17*. One commentator has suggested:

[C]rime engagement peaks at about age seventeen (slightly younger for nonviolent crimes and slightly older for violent ones), and declines significantly thereafter...[T]he majority of adolescents who commit crime desist as they mature into adulthood. Only a small percentage --generally between five and ten percent -- become chronic offenders or continue offending during adulthood.

Elizabeth Cauffman, et. al., HOW DEVELOPMENTAL SCIENCE INFLUENCES JUVENILE JUSTICE REFORM, 8 UC Irvine L. Rev. 21, 26 (2018) (footnotes omitted).

Brain structure and function studies claim that there is still growth in parts of the brain associated with decision-making and judgment *up to* 25-years-old.⁸ This theory has limitations. One commentator has noted:

The most significant current limitation of developmental neuroscience is its inability to *inform individual assessment*. Imaging studies that show group trends in structural maturity...do

⁷ Barry C. Feld, Adolescent Criminal Responsibility, Proportionality, and Sentencing Policy: *Roper, Graham, Miller/Jackson*, and the Youth Discount, 31 Law & Ineq. 263, 286 (2013).

⁸ See Jay Giedd, Brain Development, IX: Human Brain Growth, 156 Am. J. Psychiatry 4 (1999).

not show that all individuals in the group perfectly reflect the trend. Normal brains follow a unique developmental path bounded roughly by the general trajectory; that is, while all humans will pass through the same basic stages of structural maturation at more or less the same stages of life, the precise timing and manner in which they do so will vary. Moreover, such variation cannot be detected or interpreted *in any legally meaningful way*.

Terry A. Maroney, The False Promise of Adolescent Brain Science in Juvenile Justice, 85 Notre Dame L. Rev. 89, 146 (2009) (emphasis added and footnote citations omitted).

In a 2016 article, summarizing recent behavioral and neural findings on cognitive capacity in youthful adults, members of the MacArthur Research Network on Law and Neuroscience conducted a study showing that, relative to control groups comprised of adolescents aged thirteen to seventeen and adults aged 22 to 25, young adults aged 18 to 21 showed diminished cognitive capacities similar to the adolescent group when they are in emotionally charged situations.⁹

While supervised on community custody, having completed an 80-month sentence, 25-year-old Smith coldly murdered Medina, an unarmed 17-year-old. The murder evidences Smith as an individual who failed to

⁹ See Alexandra O. Cohen, et al., WHEN DOES A JUVENILE BECOME AN ADULT? IMPLICATIONS FOR LAW AND POLICY, 88 Temple L. Rev. 769, 786 (2016). Treating 21- to 25-year-olds as the control group, the study did not undertake any further comparison between the group of adults aged 22 to 25 and individuals over age 25.

take advantage of rehabilitative efforts during his incarceration and periods of community supervision, and has continued to violently reoffend as an adult. The defendant's conduct was not evidence of "youthfulness" and does not reflect any "hallmark quality" of youth. It was the deliberate act of a fully-formed adult. As explained below, it is for *this* final sentence for a *fully adult* offense that Smith was ordered to serve life in prison without the possibility of parole, not for his other strike offenses committed as a juvenile sentenced in adult court or as a "youthful offender." *See Witherspoon*, 180 Wn.2d at 888-89; *Moretti*, 193 Wn.2d at 832.

C. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE REVIEW BECAUSE A LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE SENTENCE IS NOT DISPROPORTIONATE TO THE OFFENSE OF FIRST-DEGREE MURDER, ESPECIALLY WHERE IT IS AGGRAVATED BY PRIOR STRIKE OFFENSES.

The State respectfully requests this Court deny review because this case does not present a conflict with any precedent of this Court or the Court of Appeals, RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), and does not present a substantial or constitutional issue that has not already been addressed by this Court, RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4). This Court has steadfastly adhered to the principle that "[t]he life sentence contained in RCW 9.92.090 is not cumulative punishment for prior crimes. The repetition of criminal conduct aggravates

the guilt of the last conviction and justifies a heavier penalty for the crime." *Witherspoon*, 180 Wn.2d at 888-89 (quoting *Rivers*, 129 Wn.2d at 714-15).

Proportionality review focuses on the nature of the *current* offense, not the nature of past offenses. *Moretti*, 193 Wn.2d at 832. *State v. Fain* has long been the standard for review of proportionality attacks under article I, section 14, of the Washington Constitution. Its analysis considers: (1) the nature of the offense; (2) the legislative purpose behind the statute; (3) the punishment the defendant would have received in other jurisdictions; and (4) the punishment meted out for other offenses in the same jurisdiction. 94 Wn.2d 387, 397, 617 P.2d 720 (1980).

1. Nature of the offense and punishment in the same jurisdiction.

Addressing factors 1 and 4, the offense which triggered Smith's life without parole sentence, committed at age 25, was the first-degree murder of an unarmed seventeen-year-old (and the separate first-degree assault of a different individual). Unlike Smith, in none of this Court's opinions resolving proportionality attacks to the POAA was the defendant convicted of a third strike offense for *first-degree murder plus other various strike offenses*. *See Moretti*, 193 Wn.2d 809 (Moretti: first-degree robbery/second-degree assault; Ngyuen: first/second-degree assault; Orr:

first-degree burglary/second-degree assault); *Witherspoon*, 180 Wn.2d 875 (second-degree robbery); *Thorne*, 129 Wn.2d 736 (first-degree robbery/kidnapping); *Rivers*, 129 Wn.2d 697 (second-degree robbery); *Manussier*, 129 Wn.2d 652 (first-degree robbery). Yet, in each case involving less egregious offenses, this Court did not find the life sentence to be disproportionate to the strike offense committed.

It stands to reason that a proportionality attack on an adult life without parole sentence for Smith's multiple strike offenses must necessarily fail where those offenses, if punished under general SRA sentencing provisions, would also result in a cumulative sentence of life without parole. Here, under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b), Smith would have been subject to consecutive sentencing for the serious violent offenses of first-degree murder and first-degree assault; and under RCW 9.94A.533(3)(a), (d), and (e), Smith would have been subject to three 10-year mandatory, consecutive firearm enhancements, which, assuming an offender score of "9," would result in a standard range of 72 to 78.4 years. See, Attach. A.

-

¹⁰ This hypothetical assumes an offender score of "9." Smith's prior violent offenses would add 2 points each to his offender score, totaling 8 points. Smith was supervised on community custody when he killed Medina, adding an additional point, totaling 9 points.

2. The legislative purpose behind the POAA.

The purpose of the POAA is to improve public safety by placing the most dangerous criminals in prison; reducing the number of serious, repeat offenders by tougher sentencing; simplifying sentencing; and restoring trust in our criminal justice system. RCW 9.94A.555(2)(a)-(d). In *Rivers*, this Court recognized "the purposes of the persistent offender law include deterrence...and the segregation of those criminals from the rest of society." 129 Wn.2d at 713. Here, that purpose is served by incarcerating Smith, who has engaged in recurrent, escalating violence, culminating with murder, notwithstanding rehabilitative efforts and supervision.¹¹

3. Sentences in other jurisdictions.

As further discussed, the defendant concedes that in at least 17 states, he would face a sentence of life without parole. A Fain

¹¹ For his 2007 first-degree robbery conviction, Smith was sentenced on April 18, 2008, to an exceptional sentence downward based on his youthfulness, with 12 months

incarceration and 36 months of supervision. CP 388-93. While supervised, in December 2008, the defendant committed second-degree assault. Before that matter was adjudicated and while supervised, the defendant committed first-degree burglary and conspiracy to commit first-degree robbery on November 16, 2009, and was sentenced to 80 months in custody and 18 months of community custody. CP 373-79. At the time of his current offenses, Smith was supervised, CP 517, and in violation of his previous judgment, having been ordered in 2010 not to have any contact with Muongkhoth while supervised, CP 379.

proportionality analysis does not support the defendant's contention that his sentence is disproportionate to his crimes.

D. A LIFE SENTENCE FOR A 25-YEAR-OLD RECIDIVIST IS NOT CATEGORICALLY BARRED

In *State v. Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d 67, 82, 428 P.3d 343 (2018), and *Moretti*, 193 Wn.2d 809, this Court engaged in a "categorical bar" analysis to determine whether certain sentencing provisions violated article I, section 14's prohibition on cruel punishment. This analysis was developed to address categorical cruel punishment claims based on the nature of the offense or the characteristics of the offender. *Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d at 84.

1. There is no national consensus against using an adult conviction for an offense committed while a juvenile.

This Court should decline review because the defendant fails to demonstrate there is a national consensus against the sentencing practice at issue. *Moretti*, 193 Wn.2d at 821 (citing *Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d at 85). To make this determination, the Court considers "objective indicia of society's standards, as expressed in legislative enactments and state practice." *Id*. The burden is on the defendant to demonstrate a national consensus exists. *Id*. The defendant has failed to make this showing, *readily admitting that in at least 17 states*, he would face a life without parole sentence. Pet. at 14.

This Court recently held in *Moretti* there is *no national consensus* that recidivist statutes allowing the use of prior adult strikes committed when the defendant was a young adult or juvenile offender constitute unconstitutional punishment. 193 Wn.2d at 822–23. Division Two has recognized several other jurisdictions have "rejected this very argument." *Teas*, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 134. Other states concur. *See e.g.*, *State v. Bush*, 733 So.2d 49, 54 (La. Ct. App. 1999); *Mullner v. State*, 406 P.3d 473 (Nev. 2017) (citing *U.S. v. Graham*, 622 F.3d 445, 455-61 (6th Cir. 2010)); *State v. Rideout*, 933 A.2d 706 (Vt. 2007) ("The mere fact that his sentence for crimes committed as an adult has been affected *by adult convictions obtained while he was a minor* does not...bring his sentence within *Roper's* narrow protective ambit. A...recidivist...is not punished again for his prior crimes" (emphasis added and internal citation omitted)).

Although this Court's decision in *Houston-Sconiers* would require judicial discretion at sentencing for an adult conviction committed when the defendant was a juvenile (and the defendant, in fact, received a mitigated exceptional sentence for his first strike offense based upon his youth, CP

538),¹² neither that case, nor any other authority, lead to the conclusion that the later use of that offense as a predicate for our persistent recidivist statute violates the constitutional prohibition on cruel punishment as recognized in *Moretti*. 193 Wn.2d at 822–23.

2. <u>Independent judgment should counsel that *Houston-Sconiers* and *Monschke* concerns are not present here.</u>

The defendant further fails to demonstrate that this Court should exercise its independent judgment to find his life sentence for murder committed by a 25-year-old is categorically barred by either the state or federal constitution. *See Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d at 87. The court considers "the culpability of the offenders at issue in light of their crimes and characteristics, along with the severity of the punishment in question" and "whether the challenged sentencing practice serves legitimate penological goals." *Id.* (quoting *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 67, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010)).

In short, and as above, the defendant's offenses reflect no degree of transient immaturity or reduced culpability. The defendant has had two prior opportunities to reform, failing both, and his violent behavior has

¹² With an offender score of "0" the defendant faced 31-41 months' incarceration for his first robbery conviction. CP 388. He received a sentence of 12 months. CP 388-92.

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